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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Ms X

	Scheme
	:
	Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)

	Respondents


	:
	the third Employer  
the Pension Fund 

Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) 


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION

1. Ms X complains that :

1.1. her application for an Injury Allowance under Regulation 34 of the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) Regulations 1996 (Appendix A) has been improperly rejected.

1.2. there was a delay in her being awarded an ill-health retirement pension which has resulted in financial injustice, in particular in being unable to purchase a home. She also complains that when the arrears were paid the money was taxed at an emergency rate and she had to wait until the following April to recover the overpaid tax. Ms X claims the third Employer were in possession of the correct tax code. 

1.3. Ms X does not dispute that the basic salary used to calculate her benefits is that which she was receiving at the time. But she believes this should have been increased to reflect inflationary rises in the final year before she left the third Employer. Ms X also believes that her final salary should have been increased in respect of annual leave owed to her when she left the third Employer.

2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both. I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of facts or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

REGULATIONS

3.
At the time of Ms X’s application for ill health retirement benefits The Local Government Superannuation Regulations 1986 (the 1986 Regulations) applied. Regulation E2 (1) of the 1986 Regulations  provides:

“…when a person ceases to hold a local government employment he becomes entitled in relation to that employment to an annual retirement pensions and a lump sum retiring allowance if – 

…

(b) the total of his reckonable service and any qualifying service is not less than 5 years and – 

(i)
he is incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of that employment by reason of permanent ill-health or infirmity of mind or body
…”
4.
Regulation E3 of the 1986 Regulations provides:

“…(1) Subject to paragraphs (2) and (12) to (16) and to Regulation E29, the annual rate of a person’s retirement pension is one-eightieth of his pensionable remuneration…”


"pensionable remuneration" means pay within the meaning of regulation 13 of the 1996 Regulations;”

5.
Regulation E22 of the 1986 Regulations provides:

“(1)… a person’s pensionable remuneration in relation to a local government employment is his remuneration for so much of the relevant period as he is entitled to reckon as reckonable service in relation to that employment. 

(2)
subject to paragraphs (3), (4), and (5), for the purposes of this regulation the relevant period is the year ending with the day on which a person ceases to hold the employment or, if earlier, the day on which he becomes entitled to reckon 45 years as reckonable service…..” 

6.
Regulation N1 of the 1986 Regulations provides :

(1) Any question concerning the rights or liabilities of any person other than a scheduled body shall be decided in the first instance by the body concerned …”

7.
Regulation N5 of the 1986 Regulations provides : 

“(1) 
Any question whether a person is entitled to benefits  under these regulations is to be decided by the body who last employed the person in respect of whose employment the question arises…”

8.
Regulation N8 of the 1986 Regulations provides: 

“(1) 
Where the body concerned have either decided or failed to decide any such question as is mentioned in Regulation N1 and written notice of appeal is served on the Secretary of State the question shall, subject to paragraph (2), be determined by him and his determination shall be final. …“ 

3. Schedule I of the 1986 Regulations provides that :
“Remuneration” Except to the extent that any notional remuneration has been agreed under Regulation G8, the expression means  all the salary, wages, fees, poundage and other payments paid or made to an employee as such and the money value of any apartments, rations or other allowances in kind appertaining to his employment.

The expression does not include - 

(a) payments for non-contractual overtime;
(b) any allowance paid to an employee to cover cost of office accommodation or clerk’s assistance
(c) any travelling or subsistence allowance or other moneys to be spent, or to cover expenses incurred by him for the purposes of his employment;
(d) any payment made to him on ceasing to hold his employment in consideration of loss of holidays; …”

4. At the time of Ms X’s application for injury allowance The Local Government Discretionary Payments Regulations 1996 (the 1996 Regulations) applied and provide:

10.1
Regulation 34 - Loss of employment through permanent incapacity

(1)
If

(a)
as a result of anything he was required to do in carrying out his work, a person who is employed in a relevant employment

(i)
sustains an injury; or

(ii)
contracts a disease; and

(b) he ceases to be employed in that or any other relevant employment as a result of an incapacity which is likely to be permanent and was caused by the injury or disease,

he shall be entitled to an annual allowance not exceeding 85 per cent of his annual rate of remuneration in respect of the employment when he ceased to be employed.

(2) The allowance is to be paid by the relevant employer and, subject to paragraph (1), is to be of such amount as that employer may from time to time determine.

(3)
In the case of an allowance or a lump sum which is payable by virtue of a person having sustained an injury, no regard shall be had

(a) to any benefit payable periodically which the person was entitled to be paid before the injury was sustained;

(b) to any right which accrued before that time; or

(c) to any damages or sum received by virtue of such a right.

10.2
Regulation 38:

(1) In determining the amount of an allowance under Regulation 34 ... the relevant employer is to have regard to all the circumstances of the case, including the matters specified in paragraph (2) (except in so far as they are excluded by paragraph (3)).

(2) The matters mentioned in paragraph (1) are

(a) any right to benefit under Part V of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992;

(b) any other statutory right to benefit or compensation;

(c) any right to receive pension benefit (whether payable under an enactment or otherwise); and

(d) any damages recovered and any sum received by virtue of a contract of insurance.

10.3
Regulation 45

(1)
Any question concerning the rights of any person or his  eligibility to be considered for any award under Part V or Part VI shall be decided in the first instance by the relevant LGPS employer, that is to say the LGPS employer who last employed the person in respect of whose employment the question arises; …

(3) The questions specified in paragraph (1) shall be decided as soon as is reasonably practicable after the occurrence of the last event by virtue of which the award may be payable.

(4) A body who have decided any question under this regulation shall, as soon as is reasonably practicable after doing so, send a written notification of their decision to every person affected by it.

(5) The notification shall include :

(a) the grounds for the decision; 

(b) in any case where paragraph (6) applies, a conspicuous statement directing the person's attention to his right under that paragraph to appeal to the Secretary of State,

(6) Where

(a)
the relevant employer has decided or failed to decide any such question as is mentioned in paragraph (1); and 

(b)
an appeal is duly made to the Secretary of State, 

then, subject to the following provisions of this regulation, the question shall be determined by him and his determination of it shall be final. 

(7) The Secretary of State shall not determine any question that fell to be determined by the relevant employer in the exercise of a discretion conferred by these Regulations...”

MATERIAL FACTS

12.
Ms X was born on
. 
13.
From 1984 to 1985 she worked for [the first Employer] and from 1985 to 1990 she worked for [the second Employer]. Ms X claims to have been bullied throughout her employment with the second Employer. In 1990 she became employed by the third Employer. Ms X says that the person who bullied her at the second Employer subsequently also moved to the third Employer and, she asserts, that the bullying continued until her employment was terminated on 31 October 1993. Ms X was a member of the LGPS throughout her employment in local government. 
14.
On 23 March 1993 disciplinary proceedings were instigated against Ms X by the third Employer with regard to her work performance.
15.
Ms X went on sick leave on 29 March 1993. She visited her GP who issued a Medical Certificate signing her off work for 6 weeks. The reason for absence entered on the Medical Certificate was “Shock”. The third Employer referred Ms X to the Community Physician to ascertain her fitness for work. 
16.
On 6 April 1993, NALGO, Ms X’s union, wrote to the third Employer expressing its surprise that Ms X had been referred to the Community Physician so soon after commencing sick leave. NALGO’s letter states that in the context of Ms X facing a disciplinary hearing such action could be construed as harassment.

5. The third Employer say that several unsuccessful attempts were made for Ms X to be examined by the Community Physician between April 1993 and July 1993. Ms X says that she was examined by the Community Physician on 4 June 1993 but that no report of her consultation was produced.

6. Ms X attended a disciplinary hearing on 17 September 1993 which, Ms X says, resulted in her receiving a first and final warning. 

7. Ms X was again on sick leave from 12 October 1993 to 20 October 1993. The Medical Certificate covering this period gave the reason for absence as “Laproscopy and Recovery.” 

8. On 12 October 1993, Ms X wrote to the third Employer tendering her resignation. She requested that she be released from her contract of employment without working out the contractual period of notice required. The third Employer responded on 13 October 1993 accepting her resignation with effect from the end of that month. Ms X then wrote to the third Employer again on 16 October 1993 requesting that she wished to change her leaving date to 3 November 1993. She said the reason was because she had realised that if she left on 31 October 1993 she would not have taken her full leave entitlement. The third Employer responded by letter dated 19 October 1993 refused her request and Ms X’s employment was terminated with effect from 31 October 1993. The third Employer’s letter states:

“In acceding to your request to leave early I was assuming that you were fully aware of your leave entitlement. I am not prepared at this date to change your leaving date. I have already taken steps to let the payroll section know that you will be leaving on 31 October.”   
9. Ms X did not return to work after her sick leave ended on 20 October 1993. The remaining time between 20 October 1993 and 31 October 1993 was taken as annual leave. Ms X has remained unemployed since 1993 and in 1996 she lost her home. 

10. On 25 January 1994, Ms X made an application to an Industrial Tribunal claiming constructive dismissal on the grounds that bullying over a prolonged period and failure to observe equal opportunity had resulted in her resignation and loss of career. At the pre-hearing review it was decided that there was no reasonable prospect of Ms X being able to prove constructive dismissal. Ms X, however, requested that the proceedings continue and an order was made against her to pay a deposit of £50 as a condition of her being permitted to continue. The application was struck out on 6 July 1994 because Ms X failed to make such a payment.

11. Ms X unsuccessfully tried to contest that decision.  

Delay in Awarding Ill-Health Retirement Benefits

12. On 29 January 2001, Ms X applied to the third Employer for early payment of her benefits in the Scheme. She asked that she should receive enhanced benefits backdated to 31 October 1993 on the grounds that she was suffering from permanent ill-health as a result of Post Traumatic Stress Disorder caused by workplace bullying. The third Employer acknowledged her request on 2 February 2001. 

13. The third Employer wrote to Ms X on 16 February 2001 requesting the name and address of her GP, completion of the consent form to release medical information and other details. Ms X responded on 8 March 2001 advising that her GP had commenced maternity leave and that as there were no other GPs at that practice who knew her she suggested that she be allowed to see the third Employer’s Community Physician. 
14. The third Employer responded on 14 March 2001 that her application could not proceed until she completed the consent to release medical information form. The third Employer’s letter was headed “Release of Preserved Superannuation Benefits on the Grounds of Permanent Ill Health”. Ms X signed and returned the consent form on 20 March 2001. In her letter she said that she was applying for payment of ill-health benefits backdated to the last day of her employment and not for early payment of preserved benefits. 

15. On 1 June 2001, having examined Ms X that day, the third Employer’s Occupational Health Adviser (OHA) wrote to Ms X’s GP. He requested an up to date medical report and, in particular, comments on whether Ms X’s state of health would allow her to return to her former position.

16. Ms X’s GP responded on 9th July 2001 as follows : 

“I understand that she has applied for her pension to be backdated from the date of her resignation at [the third Employer] in 1993. I have seen the original letter to yourselves and have read her witness statements and expert reports. I am aware of the considerable evidence she has prepared in support of her case of “bullying at work” over a ten year period. It is clear that she has been and continues to be profoundly affected by her experiences, physically, mentally and materially… 

…[Ms X] has been seriously disadvantaged and if she is to look more positively towards the future I agree with her that this should not be at the third Employer. For her to return to her former role would have serious consequences, both physically and mentally.”
17. The OHA signed a Medical Certificate of Permanent Incapacity on 16 July 2001 showing that Ms X was suffering from Post Traumatic Stress Disorder and was permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of her former post. The certificate confirmed that the doctor who examined Ms X was an independent registered medical practitioner who had not previously been involved in advising the third Employer about Ms X. The certificate also confirmed that the physician concerned was registered with the Pension Fund and in possession of one of the following qualifications in occupational health: Dip Occ Med; AFOM, MFOM, FFOM. The Certificate did not show an effective date from when that incapacity began 

18. Ms X wrote to the third Employer stating that, contrary to all correspondence and agreements, she had been advised that her application was being dealt with as though she had become unfit for work as at July 2001. Ms X requested once again that her ill-health pension be backdated to 31 October 1993. 
19. The third Employer wrote to Ms X on 16 August 2001 as follows: 

“..I notify you that your application has been successful in part and your preserved superannuation benefits will be released for payment with effect from 16 July 2001, the date at which you have been issued with a Medical Certificate of Permanent Incapacity from the Council’s Independent Occupational Health Adviser….

You will recall in your correspondence of 29 January 2001 that you raised a number of issues concerning the award of these benefits. These were the backdating and enhancement of your pension allied to issues concerning your final salary upon leaving your employment. …

2.
The provisions governing the release of preserved benefits on the grounds of permanent ill-health are distinct from the ill health provisions applicable to employees who become ill during employment and subsequently retire on the grounds of ill health.    

3. Preserved benefits for ill health are based on actual service only. The service does not attract enhancements.

4. Preserved benefits are calculated on the actual year’s final earnings.

5. There are no provisions in the regulations to facilitate retrospection. Ill health is determined at the time of the application.

6. Annual pension is index linked.”

20. Ms X wrote to the OHA on 20 August 2001 saying that he had made clear to her during the consultation on 1 June that her benefit would be backdated to 31 October 1993. She says she telephoned the OHA office in July 2001 and was told that the Medical Certificate of Permanent Incapacity had been signed and backdated to 31 October 1993. 
21. The OHA responded on 3 September 2001 that the decision to release the pension, and to backdate it, rested with the third Employer and the Pension Fund. He said that his role was to provide an opinion as to whether the person was capable of performing the duties of their post at the time of the examination.

22. On 23 August 2001 the Pension Fund, in its capacity as manager of the LGPS, wrote to Ms X confirming that her preserved pension was to be put into payment with effect from 16 July 2001. 

23. Ms X responded on 27 August 2001 stating that she had been told that her pension would be backdated to 31 October 1993. Along with her letter Ms X submitted five files containing evidence/witness statements/expert reports which she said proved that the Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) from which she suffers was caused by the extensive bullying she had suffered before she left the third Employer in October 1993.

24. Her letter of 27 August was treated as a request to begin the Internal Disputes Resolution Procedure (IDRP). She was told that she would receive a response by 3 November 2001.

25. On 28 September 2001, the Appointed Person asked Ms X to complete a consent to release medical information form.

26. On 25 October 2001, Ms X faxed a copy of a report she had received from her Consultant Psychiatrist who confirmed that in his view the PTSD had been present since 1993. He concludes “If direct work causation has a bearing on the pension decision or on a possible dynamising factor then I can confirm that her condition is a direct consequence of psychological injury sustained in the course of her employment.”

27. On 30 October 2001, the Appointed Person wrote to Ms X advising that the investigation into her complaint was not complete but that he hoped to respond by 3 December 2001. He wrote again on 9 November 2001 enclosing a copy of a letter received from the third Employer which reads as follows : 

“…[Ms X] voluntarily resigned from her employment with [the third Employer] on 31 October 1993 (letter attached). The reasons alleged by [Ms X] for deciding to terminate her employment with the [the third Employer] have been the subject of an application by her to an Industrial Tribunal (which did not proceed) and court action (which did not proceed). Had these proceedings continued they would have been vigorously defended by [the third Employer]. [Ms X] was not sick at the time of leaving our employment. 

The first inquiry regarding the release of preserved benefits on the grounds of ill health was her application contained in her letter of 29 January 2001 (attached), some 7 years after leaving the third Employer. 

….The Authority queries a number of comments made by [Ms X] in her correspondence of 27 August 2001 to [the Pension Fund]. The first paragraph maintains that myself and the Chief Executive have assured her that benefits would be retrospective and that there is correspondence to this effect. The Authority would like to have sight of such correspondence if it exists. …”

40.
On 17 December 2001, the Appointed Person provided Ms X with his response under Stage 1 of IDRP as follows:

“…While [the third Employer] has arranged for a medical assessment for the early release of your deferred benefits, without retrospection, it has not in my opinion satisfactorily addressed the question of ill health retirement at the date you left employment. In my opinion your former employer has not made a decision regarding your application for assessment for ill health retirement. In other words, the question that I am being asked to review has not been fully addressed by [the third Employer]. As Appointed Person, it is my role to review decisions made on the basis of the relevant Regulations. I am unable to fully perform this role where a decision had not been made. I shall therefore be asking your former employer to review your case with a view to establishing your eligibility for ill health retirement at the point you left employment….”

41.
The third Employer wrote to Ms X on 24 January 2002 confirming that in light of the Appointed Person’s view they were reviewing her case.
42.
On 31 January 2002, the third Employer requested its OHA Medical Adviser to assess whether, on the balance of probabilities, Ms X was ill at the time of leaving employment. 
43.
The OHA responded on 19 February 2002 that he was unable to confirm that Ms X was ill at the time of her resignation. He concludes “…The information I have from her medical advisors support and confirm poor mental and physical health since but not at her resignation. I feel the only way that this situation can be resolved is for an independent review with access to copies of [Ms X’s] GP medical records pertaining to the time in question.”
44.
On 21 February 2002 the third Employer wrote to Ms X advising that her application for benefits retrospectively applied from 31 October 1993 had been declined for the following reasons : 

44.1
the OHA had been unable to confirm that she had been ill at the date of her resignation.
44.2
There was no evidence that she was reported as sick at the time of leaving employment. She voluntarily tendered her resignation there is no evidence that she left the third Employer’s service by reason of medical incapacity.

45.
Ms X appealed against this decision under Stage 1 of the IDRP on 13 March 2002. The Appointed Person acknowledged her appeal on 21 March 2002 and confirmed that given the nature of the disagreement it was likely that he would ask her to attend for a consultation in B with an independent specialist in occupational medicine. He notes that she had previously informed his colleague that she would be in M between 14 and 16 May 2002 and asked if she would like a consultation to be arranged at that time. 
46.
Ms X agreed, however it was not possible to arrange and instead a consultation was arranged for 27 May 2002. Ms X, who was then living in S, was unable to attend 
47.
Arrangements were made for Ms X to attend a consultation with, Dr De, an Occupational Health Physician, in I, on 9 July 2002. Dr De’s report dated 18 July 2002 concludes: 

“..This consultation was arranged at your request in order to provide you with further advice regarding [Ms X’s] claim for ill health retirement benefits to be paid under the above regulations from the date of her termination of contract from [the third Employer] on 31 October 1993. You asked me specifically to “Let me have your opinion on whether or not ill health benefits should have been awarded as at 31 October 1993 when employment ceased with relevant details of how and why you reached that opinion….

Ms X provides much evidence of what she believes is the origin of her condition but I have to emphasise that the consultation on 9 July 2002 was not concerned with defining causation. As examined on 9 July 2002, I would consider Ms X to be wholly unfit for work as a H M or any equivalent post within the local government organisation and given the duration of her illness and present manifestations, I have no doubt in considering that this is a permanent incapacity, as established by Dr S [the OHA Medical Adviser] on the basis of his consultation with [Ms X] on 1 June 2001 and subsequent advice from her General Practitioner, leading to issuing of a Certificate of Permanent Incapacity on 16 July 2001. 

I have been asked to assess whether “on the balance of probability”, Ms X could have been defined as having a permanent incapacity for similar reasons at the time of her resignation from [the third Employer] in October 1993. I confirm that prior to 9 July 2002, I had no knowledge or contact with Ms X or any of the agencies involved with her care or previous employment….

General Practitioner Records

Ms X has provided me with copies of her General Practitioner records which include manuscript entries from 1986 – 1999 and consultant reports from hospital out-patient clinics from 1985 – 1997. I have no reason to believe that any records are missing but equally well have no means of confirming that all records are present. Within this records I find no reference to any issues relating to Ms X’s work or her mental health. 

Occupational Health Reports 

The documents provided by yourself and by Ms X demonstrates some degree of confusion over when she might have been assessed by an occupational health physician advising [the third Employer]. Apart from [the OHA’s] Certificate of Permanent Incapacity issued 16 July 2001 and his supporting correspondence which particularly excludes any assessment of Ms X’s health on or about October 1993, I have only information from Ms X that she was assessed by the “Community Physician” acting as occupational health adviser in 1993 or prior to that year. It appears that there may have an occupational health assessment by the community physician in 1991 and April 1993. In order to ensure that I have all the relevant information in order to advise you according to the brief provided to me I do need further information regarding occupational health reports to [the third Employer] before 1993.

In summary therefore, I can advise you as follows : 

i) As assessed on 9 July 2002 Ms X is unfit for duties equivalent to that of HM in local government and the current indications are that this represents a permanent incapacity.

ii) Whether her health in October 1993 would also fulfil the criteria for a permanent incapacity must depend upon  information and evidence drawn from the source detailed above. Currently, I appear to have all relevant information except a record of the occupational health assessments that may have taken place in 1993 and 1991.
iii) It is not part of my brief nor within my remit as an occupational health physician to make any comment on the causation of Ms X’s ill health alleged in 1993 and confirmed in 2002. However, it should be recorded that her present state of health is not inconsistent with the history that she gives and the experiences that she alleges to have been imposed upon her during her employment with [the third Employer].”   

28. On 2 September 2002, the Appointed Person wrote again to Dr De advising that “in view of the fact that both Ms X and [the third Employer] inform me that there is unlikely to be documentary evidence held in relation to the Community Physician appointment(s) I should be grateful if you could let me have your report based on evidence already supplied by both parties.”
29. Dr De responded on 20 September 2002 as follows : 

“…My points of reference now comprise:

· Consultation with [Ms X] – 9th July 2002. I do not consider it necessary to arrange further consultation for the purposes of fulfilling my brief.
· Ms X’s Personal Documentation – extensive documentation establishing her perception of severe bullying and harassment during the course of employment at [the second Employer] and the [third Employer]. Ms X maintains that she was in denial of a psychological component to her acknowledged ill health up to the time of her resignation. Symptoms evolved through subsequent years, on the basis of which Dr J, Psychiatrist, established the diagnosis of post-traumatic stress disorder in his report of 6 October 1998.
· General Practitioner Records - I have no new information in this respect but can confirm that these identify a high level of attendance and symptoms without demonstrable physical cause from 1986. There are some references to relationship to work (In September 1986 & November 1987) and Ms X’s specific rejection of the idea that her physical symptoms were related to psychological factors in an entry in May 1995. 
· Occupational Health Reports – your recent letter contains a copy of a letter from Director of Personnel Management Services, the third Employer, dated 1 April 1993 formally referring [Ms X] for an Occupational Health Assessment. In addition Ms X has provided me with a copy of a letter from the Chief Executive of the third Employer dated 25th June 1993 this confirms that ‘Ms X did see the Community Physician on 4th June 1993 and he did share her doctor’s view that Ms X was unfit at the present time for the duties of her post. He gave the same reasons as her doctor.’ I understand from the further enquiries made of the third Employer that there is no record of a formal report from the Community Physician at that time, nor any remaining available health records.

· Specialist Reports – reports from a Consultant Psychiatrist, a Psychologist and [Mr F] of the National Workplace Bullying Advice Line. These all conclude that :-

1. By 1998, Ms X demonstrated the symptoms of established post-traumatic stress disorder.

2. By extrapolation she was likely to have been suffering from similar symptoms at the time of her resignation in October 1993.

3. No other cause for her condition has been identified. 

· Witness Statements – the only clear statement of Ms X’s health from another party is that of a Witness Statement commissioned at the time of her Appeal to the House of Lords in 1998. That statement clearly describes and relates to the individual’s personal experience of Ms X in 1993 and previously.
…          

You are asking me to advise whether “on the balance of probability”, Ms X would have been found to have demonstrated symptoms of ill-health sufficient to render her incapable of carrying out efficiently the duties of her post with the third Employer at the time of her resignation in October 1993. … 

I conclude that, if I had been in a position to examine and assess Ms X’s fitness for her contracted duties in October 1993, I may have expected to have found a dysfunctional underlying level of emotional distress and psychological ill-health. Such a condition would have been instrumental in Ms X taking periods of sickness absence leave in 1993 and finally submitting her resignation as a means of escaping a situation that she then regarded as intolerable. The trauma that has led to her condition of post-traumatic stress disorder could be

a) the arrival of her previous aggressor/harasser in the third Employer, soon after she moved in 1990, or

b) it could have been the realisation that she could not tolerate the situation any more and therefore would have to abandon her career. 

…I therefore conclude that her current, and now proven incapacity, should have been regarded as a permanent incapacity at the time of her resignation in October 1993. Such a conclusion could not be reached if the burden of proof was to be any more rigorous than that which you have specified.”
30. On 26 September 2002, the Appointed Person sent a copy of Dr De’s report to Ms X for her comments. 

31. On 30 October 2002 the Appointed Person wrote to Ms X (who had previously been given an opportunity of commenting on Dr De’s report) confirming that her appeal to have her ill-health benefits backdated to 1 November 1993 had been upheld. The letter states “…having studied the evidence submitted, and taken independent advice from an occupational health physician I have formed the view that, on the balance of probability, at the time your employment ceased you did satisfy the definition of immediate payment of ill-health retirement benefits…” 

32. The third Employer and the Pension Fund were informed on 31 October 2002 that Ms X’s appeal had been upheld. Both parties were advised of their right to appeal to the Secretary of State to reconsider this decision should they so wish. 

33. The Pension Fund received confirmation from the third Employer that they did not wish to appeal on 22 November 2002. Ms X’s ill-health pension was put into payment on 2 December 2002. The first payment included her retirement grant, arrears of pension and interest for late payment.

Application for a Discretionary Payment as a result of loss of employment through permanent incapacity

34. On 9 December 2003, Ms X made an application to the third Employer for payment of a benefit under SI 1680 which, Ms X stated, would enable her to receive 85% of her final salary as a pension. In her letter Ms X confirmed that she had been awarded ill-health retirement which had been retrospectively backdated to 1993. In support of her application Ms X referred the third Employer to the evidence already in their possession in connection with her ill-health retirement award.

35. Having previously acknowledged her application, the third Employer wrote to Ms X on 19 January 2004 advising that its legal advisers had been unable to locate SI 1680 and without sight of this document they would be unable to comment further. Ms X confirmed on 27 January 2004 that she was referring to SI 1680/1996 of the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) Regulations and enclosed a copy.

56.
The third Employer rejected Ms X’s application. Their letter stated: 

“….I have taken legal advice on the application of Statutory Instrument 1680/1996 and the advice I have been given is this: you did not sustain an injury or contract a disease whilst working for the Council therefore the provisions of that Statutory Instrument do not apply in your case. Even if they did, the provisions of the Statutory Instrument are discretionary and would not, therefore, apply automatically.

The third Employer did not award ‘medical retirement’ as you assert. Any pension entitlement you may now receive, was awarded by the Pension Fund, which is totally independent of the third Employer. At this point I must stress that the third Employer does not now and never has, accepted the allegations you made against it. These allegations have been tested through the Courts and have been dismissed. It is not, therefore for me to re-open the merits of them. You are not entitled to any salary increments or holiday pay.” 

57.
On 9 March 2004, Ms X wrote to the Pension Fund enclosing copies of her correspondence with the third Employer and requested that she be awarded a pension under SI 1680/1996. The Pension Fund responded on 25 March 2004 that appeals relating to the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) Regulations did not fall within the remit of the Pension Fund and she should therefore ask the third Employer to review its decision. 

36. Ms X wrote to the third Employer again on 27 March 2004 asking that consideration be given to the requests made in her letter of 9 December 2003.

37. The third Employer responded on 8 April 2004. The letter sets out the provisions of  Regulation 34 of SI 1680/1996 “Loss of earnings through permanent incapacity” and concludes:

“I do not consider that this Regulation applies in your case as you did not sustain an injury or contract a disease whilst working for [the third Employer]. I appreciate the fact that you believe that you did sustain an injury whilst working for [the third Employer], but this has always been denied and in spite of two attempts to sue [the third Employer] for damages for personal injury, your claims have never succeeded.

On that basis I cannot exercise discretion and apply that Regulation in your case….”     

38. On 22 April 2004, Ms X appealed to the DCLG against the decision not to award her an injury benefit. 

39. The DCLG wrote on 28 April 2004 that the Secretary of State would respond within two months from the receipt by him of all relevant papers. In response Ms X forwarded copies of all the evidence previously submitted to the third Employer.

40. The DCLG requested the following information from the third Employer on 11 May 2004: Ms X’s date of birth, details of her membership in the LGPS, job description, sickness record, medical reports obtained on behalf of Ms X, the third Employer’s letter giving their reasons for refusing Ms X an injury benefit, any other evidence or comments. 

41. The third Employer provided the information requested on 21 May 2004. The supplied Medical Reports included Dr De’s reports dated 18 July 2002 and 20 September 2002. The third Employer made the following comments :

“Ms X resigned her employment on 31 October 1993. She claimed unfair constructive dismissal, giving serial bullying as the reason for her resignation and accordingly issued proceedings in the Industrial Tribunal. The proceedings were against the [the third Employer] and various named Respondents personally. As the case progressed Ms X was ordered to pay a sum of money into the Tribunal, because the Chairman did not consider that her case had any reasonable prospect of success. However she failed to pay and her claims were struck out.  She appealed against the decision to strike out, to the EAT [Employment Appeals Tribunal]. That appeal was unsuccessful and Ms X went on to appeal the decision of the EAT to the Court of Appeal. Again, that decision was unsuccessful and Ms X appealed the Court of Appeal decision to the House of Lords by way of a Petition. [The third Employer] was not involved at this stage.

In January 2001 Ms X asked for access to her pension benefits. Deferred pension benefits were allowed from 29 January 2001 – the date of Ms X’s application. Ms X was unhappy with this, she asked for pension benefits to be backdated to the time of leaving (31 October 1993) when she tendered her resignation. This was allowed on appeal to the [Pension Fund]. Having won that appeal Ms X then sued [the third Employer] and the other Respondents, in the County Court for damages for personal injury. The case was dismissed. Ms X now wants [the third Employer] to pay an injury allowance for the personal injury she has allegedly suffered whilst working for [the third Employer]. However, [the third Employer] contends that Ms X did not sustain an injury or contract a disease whilst working for [the third Employer], therefore the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) Regulations 1996 do not apply.   

In so far as any injury is concerned, [the third Employer]’s view is borne out by the fact that Ms X’s civil claims for damages for personal injury were dismissed by a District Judge.”  

42. A copy of the third Employer’s letter of 21 May 2004 was sent to Ms X who responded on 1 June 2004.

43. On 5 July 2004, the DCLG provided its response to Ms X’s appeal against the decision of the third Employer not to award her an injury allowance. The letter concludes: 

 “…You maintain that you were subject to corporate bullying at work and were forced to resign. You explain that as a result of this bullying you developed Post Traumatic Stress Disorder. You contend that after a medical report commissioned by The Pension Fund confirmed that the Post Traumatic Stress Disorder and other health problems were due to bullying, the council acknowledged your ill health without acknowledging causation. You maintain that in acknowledging the Post Traumatic Stress Disorder the council cannot separate diagnosis from causation. …

The Secretary of State in reaching his decision has had regard to the regulations which, in his view, apply. Under regulation 34 of the 1996 regulations, the tests the Secretary of State has to apply are whether you sustained an injury or contracted a disease as a result of anything you were required to do in carrying out your work, and ceased to be employed in that or any other relevant employment as a result of an incapacity that was likely to be permanent and was caused by the injury or disease.

The Secretary of State takes the view that for an injury allowance to be awarded under regulation 34 of the 1996 regulations the evidence must establish that either an injury has been sustained or a disease has been contracted as a result of something a person was required to do in carrying out their work. The Secretary of State takes the view that this means there must be clear evidence of a specific injury or injuries, or a clearly identifiable disease, which can be shown conclusively or on the balance of probabilities to be causally linked to the requirements of the job. 

The Secretary of State also takes the view that to be eligible for an injury allowance he must be satisfied that you ceased to be employed as a result of the incapacity. He notes that your employment ceased on 31 October 1993 as a result of your voluntary resignation by letter dated 12 October 1993. The Secretary of State notes that it has been accepted, that for the purposes of paying you benefits under the Local Government Pension Scheme, that you did, “on the balance of probability”, meet the criteria of being permanently incapable of efficiently carrying out the duties of your post from 1 November 1993. In particular, the Secretary of State notes the letter from [Dr De], the independent occupational health adviser, of 20 September 2002, in connection with your appeal to the Appointed Person for backdating of your benefits. However, your appeal for early payment of your retirement benefits did not have to consider whether you ceased your employment as a result of the incapacity. It is noted that you were not covered by a medical certificate on 31 October 1993, the date you left the council’s employment, and you did not provide any reason for your resignation in your letter. In addition. it is noted that you issued a claim for constructive dismissal in the employment tribunal. Alleging that you resigned because of bullying, but that this was struck out. The Secretary of State, therefore, considers that, on balance, the reason why you ceased employment was because you resigned. …

The Secretary of State has no doubt that you perceive that you were subjected to a bullying and hostile environment. However, he finds that no evidence has been provided to him to show that you suffered an injury or contracted a disease, within the meaning of the regulations as a result of something you were required to do in carrying out your work and ceased employment as a result. You are, therefore, not eligible for an injury allowance, the Secretary of State dismisses your appeal.”

SUBMISSIONS

44. The Pension Fund submits :

44.1. Injury Allowances are awarded and paid by the relevant employer therefore any decision regarding Injury Allowances does not involve the Pension Fund.

44.2. Any delays in awarding Ms X an ill health pension were outside its control. Throughout the IDRP process Ms X’ was kept updated at all times. 

44.3. It has no reason to believe that the pensionable remuneration used to calculate Ms X’s benefits was incorrect. The pensionable remuneration used was £19206 which, in accordance with the Regulations, related to the period 01/11/92 to 31/10/93. This figure was provided by the third Employer in 1993.

44.4. In accordance with normal practice, Basic Rate tax was applied to the first payment of benefits because notification had not been received from the tax office and there was no current P45 available. Ms X was advised of this on 26 November and 2 December 2002. A P6 form was received from the Inland Revenue on 16 December 2002 confirming Ms X’s tax code as 461L week1/month1. This code was applied from January 2003. As the tax code was week1/month1 it was not possible to make a refund of the overpaid tax.   

45. The third Employer submits: 

45.1. Ms X resigned from her employment on 31 October 1993. She then issued proceedings in the Industrial Tribunal for constructive dismissal but her claim was struck out. She then pursued a series of appeals against that decision.  Having exhausted every avenue Ms X then attempted on two occasions to, unsuccessfully, sue the Council for personal injury. Neither the third Employer or the Judiciary have ever accepted that Ms X was injured at work.

45.2. Regulation 34 does not apply to Ms X as she did not sustain an injury or contract a disease whilst working with the third Employer.

45.3. There were no undue delays, insofar, as the third Employer was concerned, in awarding Ms X payment of her preserved superannuation benefits. The payroll records show that Ms X remuneration was £19,110.00 from 1 July 1992 and £19,398.00 from 1 July 1993. Ms X’s salary was increased from 1 July 1993 when she was seconded to another department. She was not entitled to an increment that year as the remuneration of £19,398 per annum was the maximum scale point. The national cost of living increase (pay award) was effective from 1 July 1993. Ms X was paid the increase retrospectively in November 1993. The amount of arrears was £96.00 (4 months x £24.00 = £ 96.00). The figure of £19,398 includes the national cost of living increase.
46. The DCLG submits : 

46.1. The Secretary of State reached a proper and reasonable decision based on the evidence available to him. His reasons are as set out in the letter of 5 July 2004.

46.2. The Secretary of State disagrees with the third Employer’s assertion that the award of the injury allowance is at its discretion. If the eligibility requirements are met the person had an entitlement to an award. It is the amount of the award which is discretionary.

46.3. In considering whether Ms X met the criteria for being awarded an injury allowance the Secretary of State took into account the requirement under Regulation 34 that employment has to cease due to incapacity. However, he noted that Ms X resigned without indicating in her letter any reason to suggest adverse circumstances. She was also at work and not covered by a doctor’s certificate on the day she left employment.

46.4.  The OHA’s letter dated 20 September 2002 concluded that, on the balance of probabilities, for the purpose of considering ill-health retirement, that Ms X was permanently incapable of performing her previous employment from the time she resigned. However, he considered that such a conclusion could not be reached if the burden of proof was to be any more rigorous. The requirements for an ill health pension and for an injury benefit are not the same. Under Regulation 34 it is a requirement that the person must have sustained an injury or contracted a disease “as a result of anything he is required to do in carrying out his work”. The Secretary of State decided, on the evidence available, that Ms X had not shown that she was suffering from a work-related incapacity through PTSD at the time of cessation of her employment. In his opinion, it was reasonable to come to the decision he did.   

47. Ms X submits:

47.1. the Pension Fund administered the wrong pension/deferred benefits despite a number of letters/telephone calls to remedy the situation. 

47.2. Although she had received some money 3 years after her initial application, she did not receive all the monies until 31/2 years later. 

47.3. The payment of arrears was taxed at an emergency rate, despite the Pension Fund having been provided with the correct tax code. Thus she had to wait until the following April for a tax refund.

47.4. Salary increments and holiday pay should have been added to her final salary before her pension was calculated. She has been trying to resolve the fact that she had not received a salary increment in the year she left the third Employer or that she had not been paid for the holiday she did not take. The evidence shows that this is true.
47.5. There is no proof that the salary she was receiving when she left included the 1993 rise in cost of living. 

47.6. No court has ever adjudicated on the evidence in her case. She has always been denied a hearing.

47.7. The third Employer’s assertion that she did not sustain an injury as a result of working is incorrect. All the medical reports say she has PTSD as a result of the bullying she has suffered during the course of her employment. The bullying she suffered at work was clearly an injury sustained “as a result of anything he is required to do in carrying out his work”. The proof of bullying at work is extensive – any reasonable person would be forced to resign as a result of such treatment which constitutes an industrial injury. 

47.8. The third Employer was alerted to the bullying by the Union in its letter of 6 April 1993.

47.9. Whilst she was on sick leave there was constant harassment to return to work. To avoid the harassment she returned to work before resigning although she was still unwell.   

47.10. Both parties were fully aware of the reasons for her resignation prior to her leaving. The third Employer had received representations from her solicitor, MP, Union Representatives, her actions in attempting to obtain justice via the courts within weeks of her resignation.

47.11. She was not at work, as suggested by the third Employer, when she resigned. 

47.12. The assertion that these issues have been tried and tested by the courts is fallacious. No court has ever adjudicated on the facts and evidence.

47.13. She has offered to compromise with the third Employer by offering to accept 85% of her final salary as an index linked pension and she has further offered to negotiate on the back the third Employer owes her. 
48. Ms X has also provided my office with the following evidence:

48.1. Her own witness statement and report of events

48.2. Independent witness statements 

48.3. Extracts from her personal diary

48.4. Expert reports from Consultant Psychiatrists
48.5. Expert opinion from TF, of the UK National Workplace Bullying Advice Line.
48.6. Statement from Rev C about bullying.

48.7. Copies of articles and notes on mental health issues and bullying in the workplace.

48.8. Her job description and the third Employer’s disciplinary and sickness code.
48.9. Copies of memorandums between herself and her former line manager from 1991 to October 1993.   
Request for an Oral Hearing

49. Ms X has requested that I hold an oral hearing before determining her application. She considers that as she has a disability, in the form of difficulty communicating, writing and a phobia about paperwork, the matter can only be satisfactorily determined by way of oral evidence. In particular, Ms X feels that the evidence she has provided has not properly been taken account of.  
CONCLUSIONS

50. I have been asked to consider holding an oral hearing. I have taken into consideration Ms X’s disability, but I am not of the view anything can be added to the evidence Ms X has already provided, nor that there is evidence which has not properly been dealt with by written submissions. 
Delay in Awarding Ill-Health Retirement Benefits

51. Ms X contends that it was more than 3 years after she applied to the third Employer before she was awarded the correct ill-health benefits. Ms X applied for early payment of her benefits on the grounds of ill-health on 29 January 2001 and she was awarded early payment of her deferred benefits on 16 July 2001. There was no undue delay in reaching that point. 

52. Albeit that it was some seven years after she had left the third Employer’s employment, Ms X had requested that her benefits be backdated to the date she left employment and not from the date of her application. As the Appointed Person recognised, what Ms X was doing was claiming entitlement to benefit based on ill health retirement. The third Employer was of the view her entitlement to that benefit could not be considered retrospectively. Like the Appointed Person, I see no basis for that view and no authority for such an interpretation has ever been offered by the third Employer. This is not a case where the law was unclear and thus where the decision-maker should not be criticised for taking a contrary view to that later determined by either myself or the Courts.   

53. In effect it was a year later before the third Employer referred the matter back to its OHA. The OHA did not himself feel able to confirm that Ms X was ill at the time of her resignation. He did however put forward the suggestion that the only way the situation could be resolved would be if an independent review with access to copies of Ms X medical records pertaining to the time in question was undertaken. Unlike the Appointed Person who was later faced with an initially not dissimilar response from a later medical adviser, the third Employer did not press the OHA for a view on the balance of probabilities; nor did they follow his own suggestion, their failure to pursue either of those courses caused further delay.  

54. Ms X appealed once more and ill-health benefits were retrospectively awarded on 21 October 2002. Although, not quite the 3 ½ years’ duration Ms X suggests, there was delay which I would attribute to maladministration on the part of the third Employer. I note that when the higher benefits were put into payment interest was paid to Ms X so that outstanding injustice to her was limited to the distress and inconvenience caused to her by having to pursue the matter.  

55. I have no criticism of the way the Pension Fund played a part in deciding to what level of benefit Ms X was entitled. 

Application for a Discretionary Payment as a result of loss of employment through permanent incapacity

56. Under the 1996 Regulations for Ms X to be entitled to a discretionary payment she must have suffered a qualifying injury that is permanent, sustained in the course of her employment. If that condition is satisfied then the next criterion is that her employment must have ceased as a result of the injury sustained. Determining whether this is so is a question of fact for the third Employer in the first instance and the Secretary of State on appeal.

57. Ms X, in her letter dated 9 December 2003, alerted the third Employer to the fact that she had recently been awarded early payment of her benefits on the grounds of ill‑health and requested that the medical evidence used in consideration of that award be considered. On the face of it, the third Employer’s response that she did not sustain an injury or contract a disease whilst working for the Council was difficult to reconcile with the medical advice which had led to the award of her pension.  Although the criteria for the two awards were different (the pension award did not depend on any incapacity having being caused by her employment; it was based on her incapacity to undertake her particular employment and any other relevant comparable employment) there was clear evidence before the third Employer that Ms X was regarded as suffering from Post Traumatic Stress Disorder, that she had been so suffering at the time she left her employment and that her employment, or aspects of it, had been the cause of her stress.    

58. On the other hand, despite noting Ms X’s view that her claims have not been fairly dealt with by either the Industrial Tribunals or the Courts, as the third Employer reasonably pointed out, her failure to succeed in either of those arenas casts doubt on her claim to have sustained an injury for which the Council were responsible as her employer.   

59. After the third Employer’s decision responsibility passed to the Secretary of State. Regulation 45(1) refers to the matter being decided "in the first instance" by The Employer, which by implication means that the matter can be decided by someone else at a later stage. Regulation 45(2) provides that The Employer's decision does not bind the Secretary of State. Regulation 45(6) then provides for the question to be "determined" by the Secretary of State. 

60. The Secretary of State, whilst noting that “on the balance of probability”, Ms X met the criteria of being permanently incapable of efficiently carrying out the duties of her post from 1 November 1993, correctly took the view that to be eligible for an injury allowance Ms X must have ceased to be employed as a result of the incapacity. He concluded that incapacity was not the reason for leaving employment and thus that an injury allowance was not payable. 

61. That view is consistent with the decision about her pension because entitlement to the benefits provided by Regulation E2 of the 1986 Regulations is not dependent on ill health or infirmity being the reason for the member leaving employment. As long as she was in ill-health at the time she left, as the Appointed Person concluded she was, then that was sufficient.
62. Ms X asserts that she was not at work when she resigned. This is true, as she was on sick leave on 12 October 1993, the day she tendered her resignation. But that period of sick leave, which ended on the 20 October 1993, would not appear to be connected to the illness Ms X claims caused her to leave the third Employer. Further, in the intervening days between 20 October 1993 and her last day of employment, 31 October 1993, Ms X was on annual leave. Thus, I do not see how she can claim to have been absent as a result of incapacity. 
63. In the circumstances I see no reason to disagree with the Secretary of State’s view that the injury allowance is not payable.
Other Issues 

64. Ms X complains that when the Pension Fund made the payment which included her retirement grant, arrears of pension and interest on those arrears, the payment was taxed at an emergency rate. Thus she had to wait until the following April for a tax refund She claims the Pension Fund were in possession of the correct tax code. There is no evidence before me to show that the Pension Fund had been provided with a current tax code when they made the payment of arrears. Further, the Pension Fund have explained, both to me, and at the time the payment was made to Ms X, the reasons why the refund of tax could not be made until the April after the payment was made. I see no reason to be critical of them 
65. Ms X does not dispute that the basic salary used to calculate her benefits is that which she was receiving at the time. But she believes this should have been increased to reflect inflationary rises in the final year before she left the third Employer. The third Employer has explained that Ms X was seconded to another department within the council on 1 July 1993. As a result her salary was increased to reflect her temporary advancement. The salary which she received from 1 July 1993 was the maximum being paid to an employee on that level thus she was not entitled to an increment in respect of satisfactory performance.
66. The national cost of living increase was effective from 1 July 1993. As is the norm with nationally agreed salary settlements it is by no means unknown for the national negotiations not to be concluded until well after the effective date. That results in a retrospective salary increase. This can sometimes cause problems with pension arrangements: pensions need to be recalculated after they have been put into payment to take account of retrospective increases to the final year salary. 
67. Regulation E22(2) is clear that the remuneration on which benefits are calculated is the amount received in the calendar year before a person ceases to hold the employment.  Ms X left the third Employer on 1 November 1993. Thus the  remuneration used to calculate those benefits should be the amount she received between 1 November 1992 and 31 October 1993. The third Employer paid Ms X the increase in her salary when she left the third Employer in November 1993 and advise that the figure of £19,398 includes the national cost of living increase. From the evidence provided by the third Employer I am satisfied that the correct pensionable remuneration was used to calculate Ms X’s ill-health retirement pension.
68. Ms X says that it is clear from the evidence that the third Employer knew that they had not paid her the outstanding holiday pay. Such issues are however employment matters and therefore do not fall within my jurisdiction. I cannot therefore consider this aspect of Ms X complaint further. 
69. Ms X also contends that holiday pay should have been added to her final salary before her pension was calculated. Regulation 13 is clear that pay in lieu of holiday does not fall within the definition of pensionable pay and even had the third Employer made such payment to Ms X it should not be used to determine pension benefits. 
70. For the reasons given above I do not uphold any aspect of Ms X’s complaint.

TONY KING

Pensions Ombudsman

25 March 2008
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